
 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a  A p r i l  0 2 ,  2 0 2 4       1 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
April 02, 2024, 6:00 PM 
Community Recreation Center Administration Building – 2416 14th Ave NW, Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
 

Call to Order 

Commissioner Roll Call: 

 Present Excused Comment 

Maryellen (Missy) Hill, President    

Laurel Kingsbury, Clerk    

Kurt Grimmer    

Steve Nixon    

William C. (Billy) Sehmel    
 

ITEM 1 President's Report 

ITEM 2 Executive Director's Report 

ITEM 3 Special Presentations: None 

ITEM 4 Board Committee Reports 

4a. Park Services Committee 

4b. Finance Committee 

4c. Administrative Services Committee 

4d. Recreation Services Committee 

4e. Campaign Committee 

4f. External Committees 

ITEM 5 Public Comments: 

This is the time set aside for the public to provide their comments to the Board on 
matters related to PenMet Parks.  Each person may speak up to three (3) minutes, 
but only once during the citizen comment period.  Anyone who provides public 
comment must comply with Policy P10-106 providing for the Rules of Decorum for 
Board Meetings.  A copy of the policy is available at each meeting and at 
www.penmetparks.org 

ITEM 6 Minutes 

6a. Approval of the March 19, 2024 Study Session Minutes 

6b. Approval of the March 19, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes 

ITEM 7 Consent Agenda 

7a. Resolution C2024-008: Approving  March Vouchers 

- Page 1 -



 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a  A p r i l  0 2 ,  2 0 2 4       2 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

ITEM 8 Unfinished Business 

ITEM 9 New Business 

9.1 Purchasing Resolutions Requiring One Reading for Adoption: None 

9.2 Single Reading Resolutions Requiring One Reading for Adoption: 

9.2a   Resolution R2024-008 Accepting the Feasibility Study for a 
Community Aquatic Center as Complete 

9.2b   Resolution R2024-009 Accepting the Feasibility Study for a 
Dedicated Space for Seniors as Complete 

9.3 Two Reading Resolutions Requiring Two Readings for Adoption: 
None 

ITEM 10 Comments by Board 

ITEM 11 Next Board Meetings 
Regular Meeting- April 16, 2024 Study Session at 5:30 pm and Regular 
Meeting at 6:00 pm at the Community Recreation Center Administration 
Building – 2416 14th Ave NW, Gig Harbor, WA 98335 

ITEM 12 Adjournment 

 

BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS MEETING PROCEDURES  

 

The Board of Park Commissioners encourages the public to attend its Board meetings.  All persons who attend Board 
meetings must comply with Board Policy P10-106 providing for the Rules of Decorum at Board Meetings.  This Policy 
is to preserve order and decorum and discourage conduct that disrupts, disturbs, or otherwise impedes the orderly 
conduct of Board meetings.  A copy of the policy is available at each meeting and at www.penmetparks.org. 

- Page 2 -



 
 
 

 

S t u d y  S e s s i o n  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       1 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

 

STUDY SESSION MINUTES 
March 19, 2024, 5:00 PM 
Arletta Schoolhouse at Hales Pass Park - 3507 Ray Nash Drive NW, Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
 

Call to Order Time: 5:00 PM 

Commissioner Roll Call: 

 Present Excused Comment 

President Hill  X   

Commissioner Kingsbury X   

Commissioner Grimmer X   

Commissioner Nixon X   

Commissioner Sehmel X   

 

Quorum: Yes 
 

ITEM 1 Board Discussion 

1a. Reception Recognizing Feasibility Study Steering Committee 
Members (5:00 PM to 5:15 PM) 

 Board Comments: Commissioners' remarks thank the Steering 
Committee for their contributions, involvement, time, energy, and input..  

 Staff Comment: Executive Director Ally Bujacich remarks, thanking 
meeting attendees and Steering Committee's contributions to shaping 
studies.  

1b. Review the Feasibility Studies for a Community Aquatic Center and a 
Dedicated Space for Seniors 

PowerPoint Presentation by ARC Architect’s Paul Curtis, Dan Podall, and 
Darin Barr of Ballard*King Associates 

Board Question: What is the total of square footage? ARC Answer: Just 
under 37,000 Square Feet. Board Question: Is a cost recovery at 87.2% 
the standard around the country? ARC Answer: It is a little better than we 
are seeing in other areas of the country. We do take a conservative 
approach and reflective of the market area. Board Question: What about 
the Senior Center cost recovery rate of 34.7%? Answer: It would vary; one 
way is a very low membership fee and usage 4:00 pm – 8:00 pm and 
weekends. Depends on approach.  

ITEM 2 Adjournment Time: 6:04 PM 

 

BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS MEETING PROCEDURES  

 

- Page 3 -

Item 6a.



 
 
 

 

S t u d y  S e s s i o n  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       2 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

The Board of Park Commissioners encourages the public to attend its Board meetings.  All persons who attend Board 
meetings must comply with Board Policy P10-106 providing for the Rules of Decorum at Board Meetings.  This Policy 
is to preserve order and decorum and discourage conduct that disrupts, disturbs, or otherwise impedes the orderly 
conduct of Board meetings.  A copy of the policy is available at each meeting and at www.penmetparks.org. 

 

Approved By the Board on ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________  ______________________________ 
Maryellen (Missy) Hill, Board President  Laurel Kingsbury, Board Clerk  
     
 
__________________________________ 
Attest: Ally Bujacich 
 
Submitted by: Robyn Readwin, Board Secretary 
 

- Page 4 -

Item 6a.

http://www.penmetparks.org/


 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       1 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
March 19, 2024, 6:00 PM 
Community Recreation Center Administration Building – 2416 14th Ave NW, Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
 

Call to Order Time: 6:10 PM 

Commissioner Roll Call: 

 Present Excused Comment 

President Hill  X   

Commissioner Kingsbury X   

Commissioner Grimmer X   

Commissioner Nixon X   

Commissioner Sehmel X   

 

Quorum: Yes 
 

ITEM 1 President's Report 

 Commissioner Sehmel invited me to meet constituent Megan Blunk at DeMolay 
Park. We walked the park from her perspective as someone who accesses parks 
with a wheelchair. Thanks to Megan for her time to join and highlight areas we 
didn't even consider. Thank you again, Commissioner Sehmel. 

ITEM 2 Executive Director's Report 

 Acknowledging March is Women’s History Month 

 Spring Egg Hunt 3/30/2024 at Sehmel Homestead Park 

 Teen Flashlight Egg Hunt 3/29/2024 

 5/4/2024 Registration is open for Parks Appreciation Day 
o Tree Planting 20th anniversary 

 Change Order Number Three for Rosedale Hall Renovation 

 Change order Number Eight for the Community Recreation Center Phase II 

Board Questions: None 

ITEM 3 Special Presentations 

3a. Collaborative Division Report 

PowerPoint Presentation by Division Directors 

Board Questions: Facilities Conditions Audit – will we roll those items into 
the CIP? Staff Answer: Yes, these will roll into the CIP.  

Board Comment: Excited about the expansion of programs.  

Board Comment: Lengthy and detailed, we are doing good stuff! 

3b. January 2024 Financial Report 

- Page 5 -

Item 6b.



 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       2 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

PowerPoint Presentation by Director of Finance Jessica Wigle  

ITEM 4 Board Committee Reports 

4a. Park Services Committee –  

 Discussed Current Projects Underway – 

o Sehmel Playground Resurfacing  

o DeMolay Sandspit Master Plan  

o Peninsula Gardens Master Plan  

o Fox Island Fishing Pier  

o Pavement Maintenance  

o Gate replacement 

o Rosedale Hall  

o CRC Phase 2  

 Other items discussed included the Aquatic and Seniors Feasibility 

Studies, Broadie Easement, McCormick Park Multi-use Trails, Bus 

Shelter at Sehmel, and Maintenance Equipment Purchase and 

Surplus 

4b. Finance Committee – Has not met since last meeting 

4c. Administrative Services Committee – Has not met since last meeting 

4d. Recreation Services Committee – Has not met since last meeting 

4e.        Campaign Committee –  

 Discussion of Naming Opportunities, including Memorial Naming and 
Mini-Golf Course restoration 

 Discussion of Campaign plan and next steps, grant plan, and hard hat 
tours as we near the public phase of the capital campaign. 

 Scheduling the drafting of bylaws for PenMet Parks Foundation 

4f. External Committees: None 

ITEM 5 Public Comments was provided by: 

 Phillip Craven 

 Peggy Power 

 Bruce Manell 

 Megan Blunk 

 Sara Jennings 

 Craig McClaughlin 

 Betty Lilienthal 
 

ITEM 6 Minutes 

 Note of a Scrivner’s Error in the agenda. We are approving previous 
meeting’s minutes which are from March 5, 2024 and were provided in the 
packet.  

6a. Approval of the February 20, 2024 March 5, 2024 Study Session 
Minutes 

- Page 6 -

Item 6b.



 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       3 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

6b. Approval of the February 20, 2024 March 5, 2024 Regular Meeting 
Minutes 
 
Commissioner moved to adopt the minutes as presented; 
Commissioner seconded. 

 Roll call vote. Approved unanimously. Motion carried. 

ITEM 7            Consent Agenda 

7a. Resolution C2024-007 Authorizing a Letter of Support to the Key Pen 
Parks Board of Commissioners for the 360 Trails Trust Land Transfer 
Project Application 
 
Commissioner moved;Commissioner seconded. 

 Roll call vote. Approved unanimously. Motion carried. 
 

ITEM 8 Unfinished Business 

8a. Resolution RR2024-003 Amending the 2024 Capital Budget to 
Increase the Budget Appropriation for the Sehmel Homestead Park 
Playground Resurface Project and the New Operations Vehicle 

 
Item was moved and seconded on March 5, 2024. There is a motion on the 
table.  
Memo overview by Director of Finance Jessica Wigle 

  
Board Question: What is the anticipated timeframe of the resurfacing 
project. Staff Answer: Substantial Completion is anticipated on 6/30/2024. 
 
Roll call vote. Approved unanimously. Motion carried. 

8b. Resolution RR2024-004 Accepting the Master Plan for the Tacoma 
DeMolay Sandspit and Advancing Phase I to Final Design 

  

 Please note, the Master Plan document attached to RR2024-004 as 
Exhibit A, read on March 5, 2024 contained several scrivener’s errors 
which have been corrected. 

  
This Item was moved and seconded on March 5, 2024. There is a motion 
on the table.  
Staff presentation by Director of Park Services Sue O’Neill   

  
Board comment: Thank you to Sue O'Neill for a recap and to those who 
commented. Highlight a few things, such as misunderstanding semantics 
for development; we are improving what has already been developed. An 
ADA-accessible pathway from the parking lot to the beach. It is an actual 
life-fulfilling need; I am embarrassed to say we haven't done it already. Well 
thought out master plan. Right now, the gravel parking lot has no direction; 

- Page 7 -

Item 6b.



 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       4 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

this will provide more direction and be safer and more accessible. Address 
no longer usable structures. We are providing paths so that kids can go 
down in strollers or walk easier and more accessible for our community. 
We have been great stewards of preserving the land. It is expensive for a 
Master Plan; we are doing our due diligence. I am proud and excited to 
move forward to improve this beautiful park that we already have. We are 
at the Master Plan stage, and the next step is the final design stage; it is 
not concrete, not the final outcome. Thank staff, consultants, public 
process. The property was acquired in 2010 to provide saltwater access. 
This draft master plan improves areas that have already been developed. 
We are partnering with Pierce Conservation District to advance the 
shoreline restoration project, which has yet to be funded. This project 
supports saltwater access, which it was purchased for. It is a valuable 
community asset that needs to be stewarded for future generations. These 
improvements are needed to enhance the site and provide safer access. It 
needs to be managed and staffed; we have contractors on site. Support the 
master plan process. Support fellow commissioners for eloquence for what 
needs to be done at that park, and thank you for the details provided. 
 
Roll call vote. Approved unanimously. Motion carried. 

ITEM 9 New Business 

9.1 Purchasing Resolutions Requiring One Reading for Adoption: 

9.1a   Resolution P2024-001 Authorizing the Executive Director to 
Purchase Park Maintenance Equipment 
 
Commissioner moved; Commissioner seconded. 

 Staff presentation by Director of Park Services Sue O’Neill  
 Board discussion: None 

 
Roll call vote. Approved unanimously. Motion carried. 

9.1b   Resolution P2024-004 Authorizing the Executive Director to 
Sign the Washington Water Agreement 

 

Commissioner moved; Commissioner seconded. 
 Memo Overview by Director of Park Services Sue O’Neill  
 Board discussion: None 

Roll call vote. Approved unanimously. Motion carried 

9.1c   Resolution P2024-005 Authorizing the Executive Director 
to Execute the Contract with Buell Recreation for Sehmel Homestead 
Park Playground Resurfacing 
 
Commissioner moved; Commissioner seconded. 

 Memo Overview by Director of Park Services Sue O’Neill  
  

- Page 8 -

Item 6b.



 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       5 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

Board Question: How long will the playground be closed? Staff Answer:  
Completion date is 6/30/24 with minimal downtime. Board Comment:  
Three Gens of Sehmels there las weekend, this is a needed project.  
 
Roll call vote. Approved unanimously. Motion carried. 

9.2 Single Reading Resolutions Requiring One Reading for Adoption: 

Resolution R2024-007 Granting the Request for Easement at Sunrise 
Beach Park 
 
Commissioner moved; Commissioner seconded. 

 Memo overview by Director of Park Services Sue O’Neill   
  

Board discussion: None 
 
Roll call vote. Approved unanimously. Motion carried. 

9.3 Two Reading Resolutions Requiring Two Readings for Adoption:  
None 

ITEM 10 Comments by Board:  

 Comments by Commissioner Sehmel read his note to Fox Island: 

 Dear Fox Islanders,  

Below I am going to provide some of my personal thoughts and opinions on some 
of the items ‘concerning the Tacoma DeMolay Sandspit’.  

In 2022, a small group of folks from Fox Island expressed their concerns about 
certain decisions made by PenMet. It seems they weren't too thrilled about the 
park host program being terminated. Personally, as a citizen at the time, I was for 
the termination of the program – there were issues with how it was run and 
operated from its inception. As I stated in my campaign, if needed and a new host 
policy was ever presented to the board by staff, I would fully review it and its needs 
in detail before deciding and not base it upon my past decision on how the prior 
host program was run. I personally, though, don’t feel one is needed at this current 
time.   

Now, this same group is feeling a bit unsettled about PenMet's efforts to fulfill its 
commitments to the district citizens, previous owners, the public, and the state 
grant agency regarding the Tacoma Demolay Sandpit project. They've also raised 
some valid points in 2022 about the park district's lack of investment & 
maintenance of our cherished island properties over the last 10+ years. I 
remember agreeing along with those concerns back then. I have a hard time 
understanding why the same group that was upset about lack of investment in our 
Fox Island properties, are now upset the park district is doing exactly what they 
asked them to do…   

Later in 2022, the park district outlined some exciting improvement projects for Fox 
Island in the 2023 capital plan, including the completion of the Tacoma Demolay 
Sandpit Master Plan, Design and first phase of the project. It's all part of the 

- Page 9 -

Item 6b.



 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       6 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

district’s commitment to providing public access to our beautiful waterfront, which 
PenMet acquired in 2010 with a state grant for Outdoor Water Recreation & Public 
Water Access. The pathway doesn't meet ADA standards yet, making it difficult for 
some members of our community to enjoy the water. This project will fulfill that 
state requirement. In 2015 and 2023, the state emphasized the importance of 
equitable public access for those with mobility issues and fixing up or removing 
buildings that aren't up to code. Plus, there are other aspects of the original 
purchase agreement that PenMet committed to, like improving the property. The 
current project, which is still in the design phase, addresses these requirements.   

Once a master plan is in place, PenMet will start the final design process and the 
permitting process with the county following all the necessary guidelines for the 
county and state. This includes notifying any of the required interested parties of 
the project. Now, while the original 2010 concept submitted with the grant was 
ambitious – including rebuilding the house – the current plan is more scaled back, 
based upon prior staff, board inputs and decisions as well as some of the 
community feedback through the current planning consultants’ outreach with the 
community and steering committees. This includes our most recent statistically 
valid (2023) PROS plan surveys of the desires of the park district citizens.   

Every one of the PenMet Parks, Recreation, and Open Space (PROS) plans I've 
come across has always highlighted the importance of water access, and that's 
exactly why they acquired this property in the first place. I'm eager to support this 
project moving forward. I can't wait to see it come to life, along with the shoreline 
conservation efforts’ project that is ongoing and the potential acquisition of 
neighboring parcels through a conservation grant. Together, these projects will 
truly transform our park district and make Fox Island shine even brighter. PenMet 
will continue to be good stewards of the land. I urge citizens to become fully 
informed for themselves and review the documents and links at the PenMet site 
regarding this project, which also has links to the state grant site on the project:   

https://penmetparks.org/tacoma-demolay-sandspit-master-plan-and-phase-i-
improvement-project/ 

A snip-it of the compliance report from 2023 

A snip it of the compliance report from 2015: 

With all due respect, I believe the thought of an injunction currently on this project 
is based upon misunderstandings of how the county permitting process works.  

Warmest Regards,  

Billy 

Commissioner Sehmel also read comments in response to his letter:  

The board received emails from Craig McLaughlin on his thoughts on the project 
and process.  
 
The board received email from Fox Island resident George Howell stating his 
position of being against the project.  
 

- Page 10 -

Item 6b.

https://penmetparks.org/tacoma-demolay-sandspit-master-plan-and-phase-i-improvement-project/
https://penmetparks.org/tacoma-demolay-sandspit-master-plan-and-phase-i-improvement-project/


 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       7 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

I received a phone call from Philip Craven worried the project may take away from 
the birds, too many trees, and destroy the natural beauty of the sandspit.  
 
I received an email from Fox Island resident John Ohlson in support of the 
DeMolay project. Providing support for the project and the process PenMet used. 
He wants to make sure that the Scouts organization is able to use their historical 
use of the property as well. Local troops have done a lot of prior projects at 
Tacoma DeMoLay for DeMoLay and PenMet, and would like to still be able to 
organize scout events there as they have in the past with the help of PenMet or 
the prior owners.  
 
I received a phone call from Fox Island resident Bridget Hasty thanking me for my 
response to the small amount of islanders that are trying to halt/stall this project. 
She is in support of the project and PenMet.  
 
I received an email from Fox Island resident J’nene McCann thanking me for 
sending my thoughts on the project out. She stated she had never voted for me 
prior but she finds the letter encouraging and a departure of who she thought I 
might be.  
 
I received an email from Fox Island resident of 44 years Linda Hahn. Thanking me 
for writing my letter, in agreement of the districts current stance for park hosts. 
Thanking PenMet for the improvements into Fox Island properties. As well as her 
displeasure FICRA org is being used to communicate messages from a small set 
of individuals beliefs. 

 

 Commissioner Nixon will not be in attendance at 4/2/2024 meeting. 
Commissioner Kingsbury, thank you for the well thought out comments. It is 
a master plan, first step and look forward to the process we will use to 
improve upon this park.  

 

ITEM 11 Next Board Meetings 

April 2, 2024 Study Session at 5:00 pm and Regular Meeting at 6:00 pm at the 
Community Recreation Center Administration Building – 2416 14th Ave NW, 
Gig Harbor, WA 98335 

 

ITEM 12 Adjournment Time:  7:46 PM 

 

BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS MEETING PROCEDURES  

 

The Board of Park Commissioners encourages the public to attend its Board meetings.  All persons who attend Board 
meetings must comply with Board Policy P10-106 providing for the Rules of Decorum at Board Meetings.  This Policy 
is to preserve order and decorum and discourage conduct that disrupts, disturbs, or otherwise impedes the orderly 
conduct of Board meetings.  A copy of the policy is available at each meeting and at www.penmetparks.org. 

 

- Page 11 -

Item 6b.

http://www.penmetparks.org/


 
 
 

 

R e g u l a r  M e e t i n g  M i n u t e s  M a r c h  1 9 ,  2 0 2 4       8 | P a g e  

 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

PO Box 425 – Gig Harbor, WA 98335 
253-858-3400 – info@penmetparks.org 

www.penmetparks.org 

 

Approved By the Board on ______________________________ 
 
___________________________________  ______________________________ 
Maryellen (Missy) Hill, Board President  Laurel Kingsbury, Board Clerk  
     
 
__________________________________ 
Attest: Ally Bujacich 
 
Submitted by: Robyn Readwin, Board Secretary 
 

- Page 12 -

Item 6b.



____________________________________________________ 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

RESOLUTION NO. C2024-008 

Resolution C2024-008 
 

 

APPROVING VOUCHERS FROM MARCH 2024  

 

WHEREAS, the Peninsula Metropolitan Park District Board of Park Commissioners 
approved the 2024 operating budget in Resolution RR2023-014 and the 2024 capital 
budget in Resolution RR2023-015 on November 21, 2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, expenditures are within the current resource projections at the fund level; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director or his or her designee has certified that the materials 
have been furnished, the services rendered, or the labor performed as described, and 
that each claim represents a just, due, and unpaid obligation against the District;  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT 
 
RESOLVED by the Board of Park Commissioners of the Peninsula Metropolitan Park 
District that vouchers in the amounts and for the period indicated on Attachment "A" be 
approved for payment. 
 
The foregoing resolution was adopted at a regular meeting of the Board of Park 
Commissioners of the Peninsula Metropolitan Park District held on April 2, 2024. 
 
 
 

__________________________________                                    __________________________________ 

Maryellen (Missy) Hill, Board President   Laurel Kingsbury, Board Clerk 
      
 
__________________________________ 
Attest: Ally Bujacich 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 13 -

Item 7a.



 

 

 

Attachment A to Resolution C2024-008 
 

 
 
For the period beginning 03/05/2024 and ending 03/05/2024 
 
Voucher # 240301001 through # 240301039 is approved for payment in the amount of 
$307,791.40. 
 
and 
 
For the period beginning 03/12/2024 and ending 03/12/2024 
 
Voucher # 240302001 through # 240302037 is approved for payment in the amount of 
$2,438,227.30. 
 
and 
 
For the period beginning 03/19/2024 and ending 03/19/2024 
 
Voucher # 240303001 through # 240303028 is approved for payment in the amount of 
$71,257.38. 

 
and 
 
For the period beginning 03/22/2024 and ending 03/22/2024 
 
Voucher # 400 through # 400 is approved for payment in the amount of $500,000.00. 

 
and 
 
For the period beginning 03/26/2024 and ending 03/26/2024 
 
Voucher # 240304001 through # 240304030 is approved for payment in the amount of 
$29,512.53. 

 

- Page 14 -

Item 7a.



 

DISTRICT COMMISSION MEMO 
 

To:  Board of Park Commissioners 
 
Through:  Ally Bujacich, Executive Director 
 
From:  Sue O’Neill, Director of Park Services 
 
Date:  April 2, 2024 
 
Subject: Resolution R2024-008 Accepting the Feasibility Study for a 

Community Aquatic Center as Complete 
 
 Resolution R2024-009 Accepting the Feasibility Study for a 

Dedicated Space for Seniors as Complete 
 
 
Background/Analysis 
 
PenMet Parks is committed to creating, improving, and maintaining high-quality parks 
and recreation facilities to meet community need within its available resources. 
Feasibility studies are a first step in determining community needs and priorities and 
evaluating design, siting, capital and operational needs, and other factors to determine 
the feasibility of building and operating a new facility or other improvements.  
 
The Board of Park Commissioners passed Resolution R2021-029 adopting the 2022 
Capital Budget and Capital Improvement Plan. The 2022 Capital Improvement Plan 
appropriated funding to conduct a study to determine the feasibility of a dedicated space 
for seniors and a study to determine the feasibility of a community aquatic facility. The 
Board also passed Resolution P2022-017 authorizing the Executive Director to enter 
into an agreement with ARC Architects to provide professional services to complete 
those studies.  
 
Public input was an essential component of the feasibility studies. To facilitate that 
input, the Board of Park Commissions passed Resolution R2023-001 establishing the 
Advisory/Steering Committee to Assist with the Feasibility Study of Creating a 
Dedicated Space for Seniors and Resolution R2023-002 Establishing the Advisory/ 
Steering Committee to Assist with the Feasibility Study of Creating a Community 
Aquatic Facility. Each Steering Committee met four times to discuss factors such as the 
desired program, siting, market conditions, and operations. Steering Committee 
members were invited to provide additional feedback through a survey and throughout 

- Page 15 -

Item 9.2



 

 

the development of the feasibility studies to help guide the process. In addition to the 
Steering Committee meetings, which were open to the public, six public meetings were 
conducted to allow members of the community to receive information and provide input.  
 
On March 19, 2024 PenMet Parks’ consultant presented the draft Final Aquatic Center 
Feasibility Study and the draft Final Senior Space Feasibility Study at the Board Study 
Session. Each study contains a summary of the public process, market analysis, site 
analysis, recommended program, construction cost estimates, and a five-year 
operational cost model.  
 
The feasibility studies contain estimated costs of construction assuming construction 
would occur in the first quarter of 2025. The estimated cost of construction for the 
aquatic facility is $46,335,641 with an annual operating cost of $2,104,631 (year 1) plus 
$125,000 allocated annually to a capital improvement fund. The aquatic facility is 
expected to cost recover at approximately 79%-87%, excluding the capital allocation. 
 
The estimated cost of the construction for the dedicated space for seniors is $5,478,600 
with an annual operating cost of $494,798 (year 1) plus $50,000 allocated annually to a 
capital improvement fund. The facility is expected to cost recover at approximately 31%-
35%, excluding the capital allocation. Funding to design, construct, or operate these 
facilities is not currently identified in the District’s capital or operating budgets. 
 
Recommendations in both feasibility studies include: 

• Evaluate capital and operational funding strategies. 
• Evaluate potential partnerships and alternative service providers. 
• Engage technical experts to further study site- specific conditions such as a 

geotechnical analysis, traffic analysis, and septic analysis as part of a future 
potential design phase. 
 

Accepting the feasibility studies as complete does not constitute project approval or 
authorize PenMet Parks to advance to the design phase. Funds to complete additional 
analysis or design work have not been identified in the District’s current adopted budget. 

 

Policy Implications/Support 

 
1. The Board passed Resolution R2021-029 adopting the 2022 Capital Budget and 

Capital Improvement Plan, which appropriated funding for the feasibility studies. 
2. The Board passed Resolution RR2022-017 authorizing the Executive Director to 

enter into an agreement with ARC Architects to provide professional services 
with regard to each of the feasibility studies in an amount within the allocated 
project budget. 

- Page 16 -

Item 9.2



 

 

3. The Board passed Resolution R2023-001 Establishing the Advisory 
Advisory/Steering Committee to Assist with the Feasibility Study of Creating a 
Dedicated Space for Seniors. 

4. The Board passed Resolution and Resolution R2023-002 Establishing the 
Advisory/ Steering Committee to Assist with the Feasibility Study of Creating a 
Community Aquatic Facility. 

5. The Community Aquatic Center Feasibility Study and the Senior Space 
Feasibility Study are supported by the following goals and objectives: 

a) Create meaningful places. 
b) Balanced financial accountability. 
c) Deliver high-quality parks and recreation facilities. 
d) Provide equitable access to recreation facilities. 

 
 
Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends the Board pass Resolution R2024-008 accepting the Feasibility 
Study for a Community Aquatic Center as complete and Resolution R2024-009 
accepting the Feasibility Study for a Dedicated Space for Seniors as complete. 
 
 
Staff Contact 
If you have any questions or comments, please contact Sue O’Neill at 253-330-2638 or 
via e-mail at soneill@penmetparks.org. 

 
 
Attachments 
 
Exhibit A:  Resolution R2024-008  
Exhibit B:  Resolution R2024-009  
 
 

- Page 17 -

Item 9.2



____________________________________________________ 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R2024-008 

Resolution R2024-008 

 
ACCEPTING THE FEASIBILITY STUDY FOR A COMMUNITY AQUATIC CENTER  

AS COMPLETE 
 

WHEREAS, PenMet Parks is committed to creating, improving, and maintaining high-
quality parks and park facilities and recreation and cultural opportunities for the benefit of 
its community; and 
 
WHEREAS, feasibility studies assist in identifying community needs, interests, design 
options, and cost estimates; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Park Commissioners passed Resolution R2021-029 adopting 
the 2022 Capital Budget and Capital Improvement Plan which includes the cost of 
completing a feasibility study regarding the development and operation of a community 
aquatic center; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Park Commissioners passed Resolution R2023-002 
Establishing the Advisory/Steering Committee to Assist with the Feasibility Study of 
Creating a Community Aquatic Facility; and 
 
WHEREAS, the consultant engaged the Steering Committee and the general public to 
assist in guiding the development of the feasibility study; and 
 
WHEREAS, the draft Final Aquatic Center Feasibility Study was presented at the March 
19, 2024 Board Study Session 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT  
 
RESOLVED by the Board of Park Commissioners that PenMet Parks accepts the 
Community Aquatic Center Feasibility Study attached substantially as Exhibit A as 
complete. 
 
The foregoing resolution was adopted at a regular meeting of the Board of Park 
Commissioners of the Peninsula Metropolitan Park District held on April 2, 2024. 
 
 

 
              
Maryellen (Missy) Hill    Laurel Kingsbury 
President      Clerk 
 

- Page 18 -

Item 9.2



 

 

 
 
       
Attest: Ally Bujacich 
 

Resolution R2024-008 
 

- Page 19 -

Item 9.2



- Page 20 -

Item 9.2



- Page 21 -

Item 9.2



- Page 22 -

Item 9.2



- Page 23 -

Item 9.2



- Page 24 -

Item 9.2



- Page 25 -

Item 9.2



- Page 26 -

Item 9.2



- Page 27 -

Item 9.2



- Page 28 -

Item 9.2



- Page 29 -

Item 9.2



- Page 30 -

Item 9.2



- Page 31 -

Item 9.2



- Page 32 -

Item 9.2



- Page 33 -

Item 9.2



- Page 34 -

Item 9.2



- Page 35 -

Item 9.2



- Page 36 -

Item 9.2



- Page 37 -

Item 9.2



- Page 38 -

Item 9.2



- Page 39 -

Item 9.2



- Page 40 -

Item 9.2



- Page 41 -

Item 9.2



- Page 42 -

Item 9.2



- Page 43 -

Item 9.2



- Page 44 -

Item 9.2



- Page 45 -

Item 9.2



- Page 46 -

Item 9.2



- Page 47 -

Item 9.2



- Page 48 -

Item 9.2



- Page 49 -

Item 9.2



- Page 50 -

Item 9.2



____________________________________________________ 

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R2024-009 

Resolution R2024-009 

 
ACCEPTING THE FEASIBILITY STUDY FOR A DEDICATED SPACE FOR SENIORS 

AS COMPLETE 
 

WHEREAS, PenMet Parks is committed to creating, improving, and maintaining high-
quality parks and park facilities and recreation and cultural opportunities for the benefit of 
its community; and 
 
WHEREAS, feasibility studies assist in identifying community needs, interests, design 
options, and cost estimates; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Park Commissioners passed Resolution R2021-029 adopting 
the 2022 Capital Budget and Capital Improvement Plan which includes the cost of a 
completing a feasibility study regarding the development and operation of a dedicated 
space for seniors; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Park Commissioners passed Resolution R2023-001 
Establishing the Advisory Advisory/Steering Committee to Assist with the Feasibility 
Study of Creating a Dedicated Space for Seniors; and 
 
WHEREAS, the consultant engaged the Steering Committee and the general public to 
assist in guiding the development of the feasibility study; and 
 
WHEREAS, the draft Final Senior Space Feasibility Study was presented at the March 
19, 2024 Study Session 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT  
 
RESOLVED by the Board of Park Commissioners that PenMet Parks accepts the Senior 
Space Feasibility Study attached substantially as Exhibit A as complete. 
 
The foregoing resolution was adopted at a regular meeting of the Board of Park 
Commissioners of the Peninsula Metropolitan Park District held on April 2, 2024. 
 
 

              
Maryellen (Missy) Hill    Laurel Kingsbury 
President      Clerk 
 
 
 

- Page 51 -

Item 9.2



 

Resolution R2024-009 
 

       
Attest: Ally Bujacich 

- Page 52 -

Item 9.2



- Page 53 -

Item 9.2



2PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

Peninsula Metropolitan Park District

2416 14th Avenue NW,

Gig Harbor, WA 98335

Prepared for:

architecture resource collaborative

119 S. Main St. #200

Seattle, WA 98104

Prepared by:

- Page 54 -

Item 9.2



3PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

PROJECT TEAM                                                           

ARC Architects
e: info@arcarchitects.com
p: 206.322.3322

Daniel Podoll - Principal

Aaron Warner - Architect, Project Manager

Bruce Dees & Associates
e: info@bdassociates.com
p: 253.627.7927

Mike Faulkner - Landscape Architect

Ballard*King Associates (Market & Operations Analysis)

e: bka@ballardking.com
p: 303.470.8661

Darin Barr - Principal

 

DCW Cost Management
e: info@dcwcost.com
p: 206.259.2990

Trish Drew - Managing Director

Katya Gamarnik - Cost Consultant

Steering committee MEMBERS                               

Marc Avni 

Cheryl Cristello

Dennis Doan (Gig Harbor Fire & Medic One)

Lynda Filson

Efrain Gonzalez (Tom Taylor YMCA, Peninsula School District)

Jill Guernsey 

Joe Hillyer

John Jolibois (Pierce County)

Betty Lilienthal

Joe Loya (Kiwanis Gig Harbor)

Angela Mattison

Jeremy Mort

Gary Parker

Le Rodenberg (City of Gig Harbor)

Pat Schmidt (Rotary)

Richard Harris

Nancy Hohenstein

Ray Kittelberger

Lynn Stevenson

PENMET PARKS                                                 

e: info@penmetparks.org
p: 253.858.3400

Ally Bujacich - Executive Director

Sue O’Neill - Director of Park Services

Board of Park Commissioners
Position 1: Kurt Grimmer

Position 2: Maryellen “Missy” Hill

Position 3: Steve Nixon

Position 4: Laurel Kingsbury

Position 5: Amanda Babich (term expires December 31, 2023)

Position 5: William C. “Billy” Sehmel (term begins January 1, 2024)

- Page 55 -

Item 9.2



4PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER 44444444444444444444444444444

TABLE OF CONTENTS

5  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
   • BACKGROUND

   • PROCESS

   • RECOMMENDATIONS

10  PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT

12  MARKET ANALYSIS

18  PROGRAM

22  SITE SELECTION

26  SITE & BUILDING CONCEPT DESIGN

34  RECOMMENDATIONS

   • OPTION A

   • OPTION B1

   APPENDIX
   • MARKET ANALYSIS

   • CAPITAL COST ANALYSIS AND REPORT

   • OPERATIONAL COST ANALYSIS AND REPORT

   • SC MEETING PRESENTATIONS

- Page 56 -

Item 9.2



5PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

PROCESS
Tasked with determining the feasibility of a Senior Space that would serve the PenMet Parks,
the ARC team, along with District management, led engagement through a series of public 
meetings and Steering committee workshops.  Each workshop built on the previous as more 
information was learned. The process relied heavily upon discussions with the Steering 
committee that was comprised of a diverse group of community stakeholders.  The workshops 
were defi ned by confi rmation of three basic principles:

• Needs and means
• Program size and type
• Site selection

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
BACKGROUND

PenMet Parks was formed in 2004 by a vote of the people. Today, PenMet Parks serves nearly 
40,000 people within District boundaries that include unincorporated Pierce County on the Gig 
Harbor Peninsula. The District manages a comprehensive park system that includes nearly 650 
acres of parks and open space, 22 park properties, and offers hundreds of recreational programs 
for all ages and abilities each year.

Since the sale of the Boys and Girls Club in 2019, the community has been without a permanent 
home for the senior community and has advocated for a permanent space for seniors. In 
response, PenMet Parks selected ARC Architects to conduct a study to determine the feasibility of 
a dedicated space for seniors.

For this study, the architectural team coordinated the services of multiple consultants, including: 
landscape architecture fi rm Bruce Dees & Associates, recreational planning consulting fi rm 
Ballard*King & Associates, cost estimating services from DCW Cost Management, and Aquatics 
Design Group - all of whom have signifi cant experience with the proposed building types.

Need and Means 

The project team sought to independently confi rm the demand through both market analysis and 
anecdotal data from the Steering committee workshops.  Through the market study we confi rmed the 
service area and general demographics and data collected for each category compared the primary 
service area to Washington State as well as nationally.  Confi rmation of the data within the service area 
boundaries showed a growing senior population and there would likely be signifi cant interest for “senior 
programming” within the anticipated service area.  Operationally, we also found that while the bulk of the 
adult programming will take place in the afternoon and evening, there would be ample time in evening 
hours for PenMet Parks to offer the facility as a rental opportunity for local groups and/or expand the 
programming for all.

Program Size and Type

After demand was established, the next series of workshops discussed different types and sizes of senior 
program space. Through a dot-voting exercise indicating favorability, the team was able to refi ne the 
desired programs and coordinate preferred activities, support amenities, and overall building scale.  The 
workshop also confi rmed the market analysis results with the Steering committee and the public.

Site Selection

Once an approximate facility size was determined, the design team identifi ed and evaluated sites that 
could accommodate a facility.  To those means, we worked closely with the PenMet Parks team and the 
Steering committee to develop a survey with four distinct site characteristics that were applied to each 
potential site.  The survey was shared for participation.  The results of the survey proved two viable sites - 
that of the (near) future CRC and Peninsula Gardens, with the CRC site having a narrow favorability due to 
community access and potentiality shared adjacent operations.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Through comparative analysis and workshops with the Steering committee and the public, we recommend 
the CRC site (currently under development) for a potential Senior Community Center.  That work is 
recognized within as OPTION A.  Near the conclusion of the public engagement phase, the Steering 
committee requested studying a facility that shared space and program elements with the potential 
Aquatic Center to create effi ciencies, generate synergies and save capital and operational costs.

OPTION B1 is provided and the recommended plan.

- Page 57 -

Item 9.2



6PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

*Proposed Program. 
Based on results of collected data, surveys, and community feedback, OPTION A requires approximately 
12,520 SF dedicated Senior Space with an associated 96,995 SF of sitework. 
Programmatic amenities include:

Entry Lobby & Circulation  3,950 SF  
Building Support   1450 SF
Community Rooms   3,400 SF

*Program Areas are net square feet

Concept OPTIONS A and B1

From the meetings and the workshop, imerged a stand-alone senior facility (OPTION A).  For purposes 
of this report it was “named” the CSC (Community Senior Center).  As the costs for OPTION A were  
obsorbed and as the seniors’ Steering committee better understood the intent of the Aquatics Center 
program, they asked for an additional workshop to defi ne a “shared” (senior) facility.  The result was 
an interconnected facility between the proposed Aquatics and the current CRC.  The stand alone senior 
facilty OPTION A became an exercise to achieve this fi nal realization.  In this report, signifi cant effort 
focused on the stand-alone OPTION A concept.  We provide it for the results of its data.

OPTION A 
The building program and site analysis informed the direction for OPTION A.  The stand alone facility 
was assessed in current construction market climate dollars then escalated to account for cost 
increases over the next two years. The estimate is for construction costs and does not account for 
soft costs associated with a project.  It is our recommendation to carry 33% for those costs. Similarly, 
an operations plan was supplied by Ballard*King Associates that analyzes the facility’s programs and 
details the associated staffi ng needs. In turn that analysis projects revenue and expenses tailored to 
the local market.  The following summarizes OPTION A:

Learning & Meeting   2,320 SF
Administration   400 SF
Storage & Workshop   1000 SF

RECOMMENDATIONS (continued)

In co-joining the Community Senior Center to the potential Community Aquatic and Rececreation 
Center, some concerns were raised for the potential for traffi c congestion at the CRC site.  Under 
future potential scope, we recommend additional consultants to offer insight into both properties - 
they are: transportation engineer, geotechnical engineer, environmental analysis, septic engineer, civil 
engineer, and electrical engineer.  PenMet Parks should engage with these professionals for further 
study.  Other next steps include further evaluating potential partnerships and alternative service 
providers and identifying captital and operantional funding strategies.

- Community Rooms
- Makers Space / Workshop
- Group Fitness

Outdoor Uses
- Connection to Walking/Cycling Trail
- Gathering

Senior Center Activities
- Tech Room
- Library
- Classroom / Meeting
- Arts and Crafts
- Lounge & Cafe
- Open Kitchen
- Banquet & Catering

- Page 58 -

Item 9.2



7PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

RENDERING

OPTION A (continued)

Capital Cost Summary

Building Footprint:   12,520 SF
Construction Estimate:   $9,948,702
Sitework Area:   96,995 SF
Sitework Estimate:   $2,183,783
Soft Costs Estimate:   +33%
Total Project Estimate:  $16,136,205

Estimates shown are based on current market conditions escalated to an assumed 
construction in 2025.

Operational Cost Summary

The Operations Plan assumes that the Senior Center would be operated by PenMet 
Parks with some usage from outside district boundaries.  The facility would be open 
approximately 40 hours and focused on only senior programming.  The facility would 
be available in the evening and weekends to support other types of programming 
and private rentals.  The Operations Plan recommends annual membership rates 
that are comparable to the market and those currently charged.  The plan provides a 
comprehensive analysis of revenues and expenses associated with the facility, to include 
a recommendation of dollars going to an improvement fund.

Year 1

Expense:  - $494,798
Revenue: +$154,675
(31.3% Cost Recovery)

The Operations Plan suggests that the cost recovery level average from years 2-5 is 
approximately 35%, which is an average defi cit of $342,105.  B*K took a conservative 
approach to the outside rentals and programs.  This is important to note because if those 
were a focus the subsidy could be signifi cantly reduced. 

Year 3

Expense:  - $514,738
Revenue: +$178,650
(34.7% Cost Recovery)

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Year 5

Expense:  - $546,086
Revenue: +$189,529
(34.7% Cost Recovery)

- Page 59 -

Item 9.2



8PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

Option B1

While the process and workshops were highly successful with Steering 
committee participation understanding and resolve, the reality of budget, 
time and needs were re-evaluated.  Near the conclusion of the public 
engagement phase, the Steering committee recommended studying a 
facility that shared space and programmatic elements with the potential 
Aquatic Center to create effi ciencies and shared synergies.  This would 
save capital and operational costs.  From that workshop, a holistic 
recommendation for OPTION B1 - an “Adjoined” facility evolved:

Senior (dedicated) Center Program
- Admin / Reception / Library (Lounge/Lobby Area)
- Medical / Healing
- Classroom / Multi-purpose Meeting (Arts and Crafts)
- Commercial Kitchen
- Dining / Multi-purpose / Small Banquet
- Restrooms
- Storage

Outdoor Uses
- Connection to Walking/Cycling Trail
- Gathering (potential outdoor space from Dining / Multi-purpose room)

With physical space adjacency to the potential aquatic center, program 
elements such as multi-purpose space, party rooms, fi tness and cafe space 
can be shared. All program elements for a shared facility should be further 
explored during the design phase.

Based on the amalgamation of the collected 
data, surveys, and community feedback, the 
project team recommends a viable alternative of 
approximately 6,900 SF Dedicated Senior Space.              
Programmatic amenities include:

Entry Lobby & Circulation  1,380 SF
Class/Meeting/Arts   1,250 SF
Dining/Multipurpose   1,880 SF
Medical / Healing   280 SF
Storage    200 SF
Administration / Library  490 SF
Building Support   (shared)

The overall cost estimate for OPTION B1 as denoted on this page, refl ects our best understanding of the building cost per square foot of OPTION A.  In conceptualizing a combined facility, there are numerous effi ciencies of 
cost.  For instance, site costs should be consider part of the larger Aquatics “development” and operational costs can be shared between the Senior and the Aquatics Center.  Should the potential Aquatics Center planning 
move forward we strongly recommend planning efforts include the needs of the senior center program.  Additionally, there may be operational opportunities with the current CRC and we recommend any potential to be 
studied as well.  While the OPTION B1 is shown as the recommendation from the Steering committee, numerous concepts should still be explored in the design phase.

*

Assumption of building construcion cost = 
6,900 SF X $794 / SF = $5,478,600

*

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - OPTION B1

Community Rec 

Center (under 

construction)

Option B1

- Page 60 -

Item 9.2



9PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

 - THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK -

- Page 61 -

Item 9.2



10PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT
There was signifi cant public engagement on this study with outreach efforts organized around a series of 
steering committee and public meetings. These engagements occurred over the course of three rounds, with 
one steering committee meeting and one public meeting occurring in each round. While a dedicated public 
meeting was provided during each round of study progression, the public was encouraged to attend and 
listen to the steering committee meetings. Each round of the public engagement built upon and confi rmed the 
outcomes of the previous rounds. The meeting type and topics for each round are listed below:

• Round 1 - Steering committee Meeting and Public Meeting
 + Discussion of Market Analysis Results
 + Discussion of Typical Senior Activities and Senior Center Types
 + Discussion of a Typical Senior Center Building Program
 + Discussion of Typical Senior Center Costs
 + Analysis of two PenMet-Owned Sites: Community Recreation Center Site and Peninsula Gardens Site
 + Review and Discussion of Possible Site Ranking Criteria (shown at right)
 + Discussion of Other Possible Sites for Consideration

• In between Round 1 and 2 - Site Ranking Surveys were Distributed and Completed Surveys Returned

• Round 2 - Steering committee Workshop and Public Workshop
 + Recap of Meeting #1
 + Preliminary Program (Developed from Meeting #1 Feedback) Shared
 + Small, Medium, and Large Versions of Preliminary Program Shared
 + Small, Medium, and Large Floor Plan Versions Shared
 + Discussion of What Activities Can Be Accommodated in Small, Medium, and Large Versions
 + Dot Voting Exercise: Facility Size (Small, Medium, or Large)
 + Dot Voting Exercise: Preferred Seniors and Dry-Land Activities
 + Site Ranking Voting Results Shared and Discussed
 + Other Sites Shared Through Site Ranking Surveys were Discussed
 + Analysis Shared of the Sites’ Ability to Accommodate both Senior and Aquatic Centers on each Site

• Round 3 - Steering committee Meeting and Public Meeting
 + Recaps of Meetings #1 and #2
 + Preferred Site Plan and Design Goals Shared
 + Preferred Floor Plan, Building Massing, and Design Goals Shared
 + Cost Estimate and Operational Analysis Shared
 + Support for Findings Sought and Discussed, Recommendations were Broadly Supported

Below is an example of the detail fi rst presented to show characteristics of the site selection process.
The Steering committee helped generate the fi nal components.

• Round 4 - Steering committee Meeting and Public Meeting
 + Brief Reinterpretation of Steering Committee discussion after Round 3
 + Presented 3 Alternative Plan Layouts for a Shared Senior Facility
 + Cost Estimate Shared
 + Discussed Operational Effi ciences btw Potential Aquatics Center
 + Discussed and Agreed to a Preferred Floor Plan

- Page 62 -

Item 9.2



11PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT
As part of the process to creating the building’s program area and overall footprint, the team presented different images that represented senior activities.  The Steering committee and the public voted on the images 
with intent to defi ne the senior (facility) program.  

Round 1 Meeting - Activities Program Voting Results
Using the results from the Activities Program, concept level options of three different sized plans were created to meet the program 
needs.  The following images show the boards presented and votes as tallied by preference using colored sticky dots.  Yellow dots 
represent Steering committee members votes and blue dots are indicative of members of the public.  Meetings notes of these sessions 
are included in the appendix.  The “largest” program was preferred.

Round 2 Meeting - Conceptual Floor 
Plan Voting Results

- Page 63 -

Item 9.2



12PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

MARKET ANALYSIS DISCUSSION & PLANNING

The market analysis is one of the cornerstones of the feasibility study process.  To complete this 
portion of the study, B*K used information from ESRI (demographics) and the National Sporting 
Goods Association (participation data).  That information helped inform the demand for services 
and the ability to pay for said services.  The full report can be found in the Appendix. 

As part of the study for a Senior Center, a key component of the market assessment was to deter-
mine primary and secondary service areas.    A primary service area can be defi ned as the distance 
that individuals will travel on at least a weekly basis to participate in programs or use facilities.  
The primary service area is conservative, meaning - expect ample participation from both in and 
beyond that boundary.  The primary service areas for the Gig Harbor Peninsula are shown in this 
graphic.  This secondary service area extends for a 15-minute drive time beyond the boundaries of the 
identifi ed primary service area. 
  
At the time the study was initiated it was determined, after conversations with PenMet Parks and the 
Steering Committee, that the design team’s recommendation for primary service area is the District 
boundaries and, due to geographic proximity, the City of Gig Harbor. It is not uncommon for a primary 
service area to focus on the boundaries of the agency that would fund and/or operate the proposed 
facility. In this case, as residents of Gig Harbor would be well within the driving radius described above, 
the City of Gig Harbor is also included. The demographics produced at this time were based on 2020 
Census data with ESRI providing projections for 2022 and 2027. Subsequent projections for 2023 and 
2028 have illustrated continued population growth in the primary service area. The demographic infor-
mation gathered in the market assessment is also used in the development of the operational plan. For 
the senior center portion of the study, the focus of the operational plan was to serve the residents within 
those boundaries, with minimal use from outside the District.
 

3

- Page 64 -

Item 9.2



13PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

Demographic Summary:

• The 2022 estimated population within the primary service area is approximately 49,000 people.  This is enough 
population concentration to support a government funded senior center.

• The median age in the primary service area is greater than the State of Washington and national fi gures.  This 
points to an older population but one that still has families with children present.  This is further reinforced by 41.4% of 
the population being over the age of 55.  

• The median household income in the primary service area is signifi cantly higher than the State of Washington and 
national fi gures.  As is the percentage of households making over $50,000 per year.  

This information must be balanced with the cost of living.  One of the best measurements for the cost of living is  
household budget expenditures.  Within the primary service area, the rate of spending for housing is 38% higher 
than the state and 57% higher than the national fi gures.  For entertainment and recreation, the rate of spending 
in is 39% higher than the state and 57% higher than the national fi gures.  This means that while the median 
household income is higher, the cost of living with the primary service area is higher.  The consistency between 
those fi gures is important.

• While there is some diversity within the primary service area, it is less than some of the neighboring communities.  
B*K typically considers diversity number signifi cant if they are greater than 10% of the population.  Within the primary 
service area there are no non-white categories above 10%.  Looking at race and ethnicity is important in the feasibility 
study process, as the level of diversity within a community can have an impact (positive and negative) on participation.

• The top 5 Tapestry  segments within the primary service area make up over 91% of the total population.  Of those 
5 segments, 4 of the 5 have a rate of spending on entertainment that is greater than the national fi gure.  This is further 
reinforced earlier in the report by the spending potential index for entertainment and recreation.  

Demographic Conclusion: The demographics of the primary service area indicate a population that would be 
supportive of a senior center. 

3

4

4
  Based on further analysis the 2023 projection is anticipated to experience another increase.
  Tapestry Segmentation classifi es U.S. neighborhoods into 65 distinct market segments.  

MARKET ANALYSIS DISCUSSION & PLANNING
Table H – 2022 Primary Service Area Population Estimates
(U.S. Census Information and ESRI)

Ages 2020 Census 2022 Projection 2027 Projection Percent Change Percent Change 
Nat’l

-5 2,133 1,900 1,924 -9.8% -9.8%
5-17 8,751 7,219 6,792 -22.4% -22.4%

18-24 3,024 3,343 3,007 -0.5% -0.6%
25-44 10,006 9,507 10,148 +1.4% +1.4%
45-54 8,142 6,613 6,078 -25.4% -25.4%
55-64 7,931 8,109 7,610 -4.0% -4.0%
65-74 4,643 7,334 7,746 +66.8% +66.8%
75+ 3,297 4,771 6,412 +9.4% +94.5%

- Page 65 -

Item 9.2



14PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

MARKET ANALYSIS DISCUSSION & PLANNING
Participation Summary:

• The Adult Market Potential Index for indoor activities is greater 
than the national fi gure of 100 in 8 of the 11 activities B*K 
identifi ed.  This is important information to highlight because the 
younger senior population is staying active longer.

• The 55+ age categories are in the top 3 of participation in the 
following activities:

 o Exercise Walking
 o Exercise w/ Equipment
 o Pickleball  
 o Swimming
 o Did Not Participate

• Other senior programs that are well received by the population 
include:

 o Meal Programs
 o Card Clubs
 o Enrichment Programming
 o Seminars or Educational Sessions
 o Health Screenings
 o Trips/Tours Programs

It should be noted that there are other providers of senior 
programming in the area.  In fact, PenMet is already providing 
senior-focused programming without a dedicated senior space.  The 
development of a dedicated senior space will allow for program 
expansion to address age categories that are projected to increase.  
We recommend that alternative service providers and potential 
partnerships be further evaluated.

Participation Conclusion: 

This age group stays active longer than previous generations.  
Because of this it is important to have a full array of programs, both 
active and traditional, if the goal is to address the full population.  

Description Primary Service 
Area

Population:
2020 Census 47,9201

2022 Estimate 48,798
2027 Estimate 49,719

Households:
2020 Census 18,603
2022 Estimate 18,910
2027 Estimate 19,169

Families:
2020 Census 12,650
2022 Estimate 13,664
2027 Estimate 13,876

Average Household Size:
2020 Census 2.51
2022 Estimate 2.51
2027 Estimate 2.53

Ethnicity (2022 Estimate): 
Hispanic 3,074
White 40,478
Black 548
American Indian 323
Asian 1,766
Pacifi c Islander 153
Other 955
Multiple 4,576

Median Age:
2020 Census 45.1
2022 Estimate 49.0
2027 Estimate 50.2

Median Income:
2022 Estimate $120,585
2027 Estimate $135,544

 From the 2010-2020 Census, the Primary Service Area experienced a 16.4% increase in population.

Table A – Market Potential Index (MPI) for Participation in Activities in Primary Service Area 

Adults participated in: Expected Number 
of Adults

Percent of Popu-
lation

MPI

Aerobics 4,172 10.5% 125
Baseball 1,264 3.2% 109
Basketball 2,311 5.8% 86
Exercise Walking 15,622 39.4% 126
Running/Jogging 5,205 13.1% 118
Pilates 1,487 3.7% 120
Swimming 7,338 18.5% 118
Volleyball 1,013 2.6% 97
Weightlifting 5,780 14.6% 115
Yoga 4,883 12.3% 119
Zumba 1,237 3.1% 96

Expected # of Adults: Number of adults, 18 years of age and older, participating in the  
 activity in the Service Area.

Percent of Population:  Percent of the service area that participates in the activity.

MPI:              Market potential index as compared to the national number of 100.

This table indicates that the overall propensity for adults to participate in activities is greater than 
the national number of 100 in 8 of 11 instances.  In many cases when a participation number is 
lower than the National number, primary factors include a lack of facilities or an inability to pay 
for services and programs.

 - FULL MARKET ASSESSMENT IS IN THE APPENDIX -

1

- Page 66 -

Item 9.2



15PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

MARKET ANALYSIS DISCUSSION & PLANNING

 - FULL MARKET ASSESSMENT IS IN THE APPENDIX -

Table C –Participation Rates in the Primary Service Area

Age Distribute Median In-
come

Region National Aver-
age

Average

Aerobics 16.2% 20.0% 18.5% 15.8% 17.6%
Basketball 6.2% 9.2% 5.3% 7.5% 7.1%
Billiards/Pool 6.2% 6.6% 4.7% 6.8% 6.1%
Boxing 1.2% 1.9% 1.1% 1.5% 1.4%
Exercise Walking 44.2% 50.5% 42.0% 41.4% 44.5%
Exercise w/ Equipment 19.2% 22.3% 16.7% 18.9% 19.3%
Martial Arts/MMA 1.4% 2.0% 1.3% 1.7% 1.6%
Pickleball 1.1% 2.1% 1.1% 1.2% 1.4%
Pilates 1.8% 1.9% 2.4% 1.9% 2.0%
Running/Jogging 13.2% 18.4% 16.4% 14.9% 15.7%
Swimming 15.4% 12.8% 15.6% 15.8%
Table Tennis/Ping Pong 3.4% 5.7% 2.7% 3.8% 3.9%
Volleyball 3.0% 5.0% 3.1% 3.6% 3.7%
Weightlifting 11.7% 15.1% 12.6% 12.4% 13.0%
Workout at Clubs 7.6% 11.3% 7.4% 8.1% 8.6%
Yoga 9.3% 12.5% 10.3% 10.2% 10.6%
Did Not Participate 20.9% 20.5% 22.4% 20.6% 21.1%

Age Distribution: Participation based on individuals ages 7 & Up of the Primary Service Area.

Median Income: Participation based on the 2022 estimated median household income in the 
Primary Service Area.

Region:  Participation based on regional statistics (Pacifi c).

National Average: Participation based on national statistics.

Unique Average: Average of the four columns.

Table D –Participation Growth or Decline for Indoor Activities in Primary Service Area

Average 2020 Popula-
tion

2022 Popula-
tion

2027 Popula-
tion

Difference

Aerobics 17.6% 7,873 8,108 8,264 391
Basketball 7.1% 3,152 3,246 3,308 157
Billiards/Pool 6.1% 2,714 2,795 2,849 135
Boxing 1.4% 637 656 669 32
Exercise Walking 44.5% 19,898 20,491 20,886 989
Exercise w/ Equipment 19.3% 8,618 8,875 9,047 428
Martial Arts/MMA 1.6% 719 740 755 36
Pickleball 1.4% 619 637 650 31
Pilates 2.0% 893 920 937 44
Running/Jogging 15.7% 7,030 7,239 7,379 349
Swimming 15.8% 7,072 7,283 7,424 351
Table Tennis/Ping Pong 3.9% 1,743 1,795 1,830 87
Volleyball 3.7% 1,648 1,697 1,730 82
Weightlifting 13.0% 5,794 5,966 6,081 288
Workout at Clubs 8.6% 3,847 3,962 4,039 191
Yoga 10.6% 4,728 4,869 4,963 235
Did Not Participate 21.1% 9,432 9,713 9,901 469

Note: These fi gures do not necessarily translate into attendance fi gures for various activities 
or programs.  The “Did Not Participate” statistics refers to all 58 activities outlined in the NSGA 
2021 Survey Instrument.

- Page 67 -

Item 9.2



16PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

MARKET ANALYSIS DISCUSSION & PLANNING
Operational Cost Summary

The Operations Plan assumes that the Senior Center would be operated by the District with some usage from 
outside of the District.  The facility would be open approximately 40 hours and focused on only senior pro-
gramming.  The facility would be available in the evening and weekends to support other types of program-
ming and private rentals.  The Operations Plan recommends annual membership rates that are comparable to 
the market and those currently charged.  The plan provides a comprehensive analysis of revenues and expens-
es associated with the facility, to include a recommendation of dollars going to an improvement fund:

 The Senior Center would be operated by PenMet Parks

 Operational Hours:

o Monday-Friday 7:00A-3:00P (evenings available for rental)

o Saturday & Sunday Closed (available for rental)

 No PenMet Parks chargebacks have been included in the operational plan.

 There would be a nominal membership fee to gain access to the programs that take place in the 
center.  For those that are not members, there would be opportunities to pay a daily drop-in fee for fee-
based programs.

o Annual Membership Fees:

Senior   $75.00

Senior +1  $85.00

o Daily Drop-In Fees:    $5.00

 The facility would have a dedicated custodial staff that would be employees of PenMet Parks.  Main-
tenance of the facility would be absorbed by existing employees.  Some dollars are included in the 
operational plan for contract labor for specialty items.

o Senior Coordinator (1)  $75,000

o Front Desk Specialist (1)  $58,000

o Custodial (1)   $59,000

 Utilities have been factored at $3.00 per square foot for 12,500 total square feet.

 Bank charges are factored at 3% of total revenue generation.

 Rentals.  The focus during the day is to provide programming to the senior population with those 
programs ending at 3:00P.  In the evening and on the weekends the focus would be renting space to 
outside user groups.  

 The Computer Library, Arts & Crafts, and adjacent Classroom/Meeting Room would not initially be avail-
able for rental opportunities.

 The Dining, Multi-Purpose 1 and Multi-Purpose 2 would be the primary source of rental revenue.  The rental struc-
ture is as follows:

o Dining  Weekday Evenings 3-hour blocks  $50.00/hour

o Multi-Purpose Weekday Evenings 3-hour blocks  $75.00/hour

o Dining + MP Weekend  4-hour blocks  $125/hour

o Dining + MP Weekend  Full Day   $750/day

o Having a staff member on duty during rental times has been factored into the operational plan.  

 The rental penetration rates vary between 20-30% depending on confi guration.  It is the opinion of B*K that if these 
spaces do not generate the revenue intended that PenMet Parks should shift focus to offering non-senior program-
ming.

5-Year Projection
  Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Expenses $494,798 $499,746 $514,738 $530,180 $546,086

Revenue $154,675 $170,143 $178,650 $184,009 $189,529

  ($340,123) ($329,603) ($336,089) ($346,171) ($356,556)

% Recovery 31.3% 34.0% 34.7% 34.7% 34.7%

 

Improvement1 $50,000 $100,000 $150,000 $200,000 $250,000

The Operations Plan suggests that the cost recovery level average from years 2-5 is approximately 35%, which is an aver-
age defi cit of $342,105.  B*K took a conservative approach to the outside rentals and programs.  This is important to note 
because if those were a focus the subsidy could be signifi cantly reduced.  

 The improvement allocation is cumulative, so that there is a balance of $250,000 at the end of 5 years if it goes untouched 
during that time.Improvement allocation is for maintenance budgeting purposes.

Senior Center Revenue Detail (year 1):

• Daily Admission:  $16,250
• Annual Membership:  $38,050
• Programs :   $39,750
• Other :    $60,625

The revenue estimates for the Senior Center operation can be defi ned in the following way.  The admission fees are minimal 
for the facility, this is by design to maximize participation, program fees can be defi ned in the same way.  All programs are 
forecasted to take place from 7:00A-3:00P.  This was intentional so that the facility is available for rental in the evening and 
weekend hours.  The rentals refl ected in the revenue model account for 20-30% saturation, meaning there are signifi cant 
opportunities to increase those amounts.  

1

- Page 68 -

Item 9.2



17PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

MARKET ANALYSIS DISCUSSION & PLANNING

Senior Center Trends Summary:

• Many parks and recreation agencies are struggling to address the full senior age category.  Seniors that are older (70+) are interested in going to a senior center and participating in traditional activities.  Younger 
seniors (60-75) are a more diffi cult market to attract with one of the major obstacles being the concept that they don’t consider themselves seniors, nor do they have interest in going to a traditional senior center.

• Parks and recreation departments are taking a focused approach to re-branding their senior facilities and programs, to purposely not use the moniker of “senior.”  The primary reason cited is that including “senior” 
in a description will exclude the younger end of the age spectrum.

• Departments are moving away from dedicated buildings and moving towards integrating senior services into a community center or full-service recreation center.  In these situations, there is a dedicated area 
(1,000-2,000 square feet) for this type of programming.  But at the same time the full spectrum of their programming takes place throughout the facility.  

• The success of programming to this population is often dependent on how often they are engaged in a meaningful way.  To address this, departments are using advisory committees made up of community 
members that are in the 60+ age category.  

Trends Conclusion: It will be important to continue to engage this population to ensure the facility design and associated programs are consistent with needs and wants.

- Page 69 -

Item 9.2



18PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

PROGRAM INTERACTIVE WORKSHOP

- Kitchen: (16 committee votes) (4 public votes)                                                                               
- Banquet: (16 committee votes) (3 public votes)
- Community Room: (12 committee votes) (3 public votes)
- Makers Space/Woodshop: (12 committee votes) (3 public votes)
- Tech Room: (12 committee votes)
- Arts & Crafts: (11 committee votes) (2 public votes)
- Classes/Training/Outreach: (10 committee votes) (3 public votes)
- Games: (9 committee votes) (3 public votes)
- Mend/Healing: (9 committee votes) (2 public votes)
- Exercise: (9 committee votes) (2 public votes)
- Relax & Recharge: (8 committee votes) (1 public vote)
- Group Fitness: (7 committee votes) (2 public votes
- Nature Walks: (5 committee votes)
- Salon: (3 committee votes) (1 public vote)
- Billiards (Pool/Ping Pong): (3 committee votes) (1 public vote)

M
os

t P
op

ul
ar

The senior space program was defi ned through direct collaboration with the Steering committee and the public.  The images below depict workshop voting results of the “Activities Board” with results tabulated from 
least to most popular.  Yellow dots are indicative of Steering committee members, and blue dots are indicative of members of the public.  The program was defi ned by the desired activities which informed the space 
allocation plan.  Meetings notes of these workshops are included in the appendix.  Highlights of program discussion are listed here:

• Commercial Kitchen was important in effort to support a leasable “banquet” or multi-purpose space - revenue generating
• Community Room - a place to gather (performance, lecture, senior informational sharing)
• Makers Space/Woodshop - a place to teach - seniors have a wealth of knowledge to share - teach younger generations
• Tech Room - computer access / opportunities for multi-generational teaching  - youngsters teaching their elders how to use technology
• Arts and Crafts / Games - cards, games, puzzles - a place a puzzle can sit and not be disturbed to work on over time
• Classes / Training and Outreach - a place of knowledge attained and knowledge shared - ie: insurance webinars, AARP presentations, etc.
• Mend / Heal - a place to cry, console, and heal souls; obvious medical supply (defi brillator, blood pressure checks)
• Exercise - a place of tai chi, light Aerobics, Yoga, Jazzercize
• Relax and Recharge - a place of gathering and camaraderie - a place to hang your coffee cup and it’s always there!
• Nature Walks - direct connection to the Cushman Trail
• Salon - a place to make you feel good - hair touch-up (retired barber)
• Billiards - Pool, PIng Pong, Foosball

- Page 70 -

Item 9.2



19PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

PROGRAM INTERACTIVE WORKSHOP 

From the voting results of the workshop, the larger program was overwhelmingly preferred.  To conceptualize space allocation needs, the sub 
total of “GATHERING SPACES” and “BUILDING SUPPORT” were added together.  The total was multiplied by a (net to gross) factor of 25%.  Total 
projected gross square footage for this option is approximately 12,520 SF.  The facility costs were calculated using this concept model.

“A PLACE TO HANG YOUR COFFEE CUP”

“A PLACE OF FLEXIBLE MEETING SPACE”

“A BANQUET SPACE TO GENERATE REVENUE”

- Page 71 -

Item 9.2



20PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

PROGRAM INTERACTIVE WORKSHOP 

Similar to a large sized facility, a medium plan option was shown.  The place making imagery shown are “activity”examples from the workshop that were voted upon.  
The total projected gross square footage for this option is approximately 9,480 SF.  Facility costs were calculated for this concept model.

“A PLACE OF KNOWLEDGE GAINED AND SHARED”

“A PLACE OF FITNESS AND SHARED ACTIVITIES”

- Page 72 -

Item 9.2



21PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

PROGRAM INTERACTIVE WORKSHOP 

Similar to a medium sized facility, a small plan option was shown.  The place making imagery show examples from the workshop that were voted upon.  The total 
projected gross square footage for this option is approximately 6,720 SF.  Facility costs were calculated using this concept model.

“A PLACE OF A MEETING”

“A PLACE OF MULTI-GENERATIONS”

“A PLACE OF QUIET CONTEMPLATION”

“PANCAKE BREAKFAST”

- Page 73 -

Item 9.2



22PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

SITE SELECTION SURVEY PROCESS

Site selection and analysis were organized around a series of three rounds of collaborative meetings with the 
Steering committee and the public.  The potential sites that were studied by the design team are shown on the 
map to right.

During the fi rst round of meetings, the design team brought an analysis of the two PenMet Parks-owned sites 
(Peninsula Gardens and the CRC site) that were identifi ed as potential options by PenMet Parks at the onset of 
the study. The relative opportunities and challenges of each were discussed.  Additionally, the design team sought 
input on other potential sites in the area that should be consider and site criteria were developed by which any 
potential sites would ultimately be ranked. No additional sites were identifi ed during the course of the meeting.

At the second round of workshops, the design team shared the results of the site survey from which additional 
potential sites were identifi ed.  The design team then preformed a high-level analysis of the three newly-identifi ed 
sites based on ownership, access, size, allowable use, and zoning. They were ultimately eliminated as viable 
alternatives for a variety of reasons including: not large enough to support the desired program, environmental 
concerns, and not available due to being part of an alternative development. Results of this preliminary analysis 
were discussed with the steering committee at the workshops and the consensus was that they were not viable. 
Of note, the CRC site scored slightly higher in the site selection surveys owing primarily to its accessibility and 
potential for shared operations with the CRC. 

From that direction, the design team developed a comparison of the Peninsula Gardens site and the CRC site 
which focused on characteristics of size and confi guration; neighborhood context and scale; space for parking; 
space for future expansion; vehicle, transit, pedestrian, and cycling accessibility; proximity to other sports, 
recreation, fi tness, and community facilities; proximity to shopping; proximity to fi re and medical responders; 
visibility; civic presence; potential for indoor/outdoor connections; and potential to fi t a new Senior Center in 
addition to the new Aquatic Center.

Through the design team’s analysis of the two sites, it was determined that ARC would focus on the CRC site for 
the remainder of the study with the purposes of creating a feasible site concept, building layout concept, building 
form and massing strategies. These would then be utilized to generate capital and operational cost scenarios for 
use in PenMet Parks’ future planning efforts.

A - CRC Site

B - Peninsula Gardens

C - Site next to Heron’s Key

D - Intersection of Stinson Ave. & Rosedale St.

E - Judson St. next to Peninsula Shopping Center

F - Soundview Drive

- Page 74 -

Item 9.2



23PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

SURVEY RESULTSSITE SELECTION

CRC

Physical 
Characteristics

Access

Location

Aesthetics

5 4 3 2 1 1 2 3 4 5

4.67

3.08

2.93

3.99

4.44

2.77

2.58

3.75

Physical 
Characteristics

Access

Location

Aesthetics

Avg. Avg.

3.67 3.38

Pen Gardens

As shown by the survey results in the graph above, the compiled data from each category was fi rst individually measured, 
then averaged into a ‘category score’, which was then used to determine the total average score for each site.

- Page 75 -

Item 9.2



24PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

The primary characteristics that 
differentiated the two sites were:

DISCUSSIONSITE SELECTION

CRC Site Peninsula Gardens

• CRC site is more accessible for more of the 
service area

• The CRC site has a greater potential for 
savings through shared infrastructure and 
shared operations by being adjacent to the 
CRC facility

• The CRC site will lend itself to greater synergy 
and interaction between users of the CRC 
and the Senior Center, with a likelihood that 
families or user groups might come to the site 
and individuals split up to go to their desired 
activity

• Additional synergies related to the proximity of 
Cushman Trail and the athletic fi elds

• Similar utilities access for both sites and 
neither having access to sewer

- Page 76 -

Item 9.2



25PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

 - THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK -

- Page 77 -

Item 9.2



26PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

SITE & BUILDING CONCEPTUAL DESIGN - potential facilities at CRC
Site Considerations

During the workshop process, we learned that a septic fi eld and supporting 
infrastructure is planned for the overall development to the northern 
most edge of the overall site (at 2416 14th Ave NW).  With the potential 
of the Community Senior Center and the Community Aquatics Center 
added to the site, we proposed utilizing the existing cleared area located 
between the two stand-alone facilities to handle the septic needs of the 
(future) proposed development. In addition, we outlined a stormwater 
collection area to serve the new development. Strategies towards reducing 
stormwater collection would include minimizing impervious areas 
through the utilization of permeable paving, rain gardens, bioswales and 
stormwater dispersion.  This conceptual “campus” layout also re-aligns 
a small portion of the Cushman Trail for connectivity of facilities and 
continuity of the trail.

MASTER PLAN

Potential

- Page 78 -

Item 9.2



27PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

MASTER PLANSITE & BUILDING CONCEPTUAL DESIGN - OPTION  A

Community Senior Center (OPTION A)

This diagram graphically summarizes the initial results from the workshops.  OPTION A reveals a potential Community Senior Center (CSC) that would have its own presence within the recreational 
campus, while providing connectivity to the potential Community Aquatics Center (CAC), Cushman Trail, and 14th Avenue.  The option nestled the CSC into the forested north end of the property.  The stand 
alone facility would have its own vehicular access off 14th Avenue with approximately 30 dedicated parking stalls.  A vehicular drop-off and entry plaza will support arrivals and circulation to the CSC. 
Furthermore, the entry plaza would provide adequate space for small gatherings and events. The entry plaza and elevation parallel to SR16 will also provide a direct connection to an outdoor lawn allowing 
for outdoor exercise and gatherings. 

As the location of the CSC impacts the forested area, a focus will be placed on minimizing impacts and preserving as many existing trees as possible. This approach will benefi t the overall user experience 
by providing a strong connection to the nature surrounding the site. 

CRC & POTENTIAL AQUATICS SITE

SENIORS SITE (OPTION A)

- Page 79 -

Item 9.2



28PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

SITE & BUILDING CONCEPTUAL DESIGN - OPTION A PROGRAM REFINEMENTS

The space planning for OPTION A of the 
approximately 12,520 SF Senior Center 
focuses on two major aspects: 

(1) Provide users with a bright-yet-intimate 
series of spaces to congregate, collaborate, 
and reconnect with other seniors as well as 
the rest of the community

(2) Provide for multi-use, fl exible and rentable 
space both within the building and outside on 
the grounds

The programmed spaces shown dedicated 
Seniors areas (plan-west of the lounge) and 
rentable areas (plan-east of the lounge). 
Seniors have a sense of ownership and control 
over the facility.

- Page 80 -

Item 9.2



29PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

SITE & BUILDING CONCEPTUAL DESIGN  - OPTION A EXAMPLE OF BUILDING MASSING & DESIGN

Utilizing traditional form, material selection, and 
construction techniques, the proposed design 
intends a timeless aesthetic - incorporating 
both classic shed roof construction and modern 
elements such as full-height glazing, clerestories, 
and rustic-yet-modern exterior fi nishes.

The design also offers opportunities for the 
interior program to incorporate the outdoors by 
including covered areas with access to a patio 
with an area for grilling, landscaped lawned area 
for fi re pits, bocce/horseshoe courts and potential 
outdoor wedding venue.

- Page 81 -

Item 9.2



30PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

EXAMPLE OF BUILDING MASSING & DESIGNSITE & BUILDING CONCEPTUAL DESIGN - OPTION A

The interior aims to celebrate traditional Northwest form and fi nishes - revealing the 
underside of the roof above with exposed wood beam construction as an aesthetic.

- Page 82 -

Item 9.2



31PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

EXAMPLE OF BUILDING MASSING & DESIGNSITE & BUILDING CONCEPTUAL DESIGN  - OPTION A 

Shown above is an entry approach viewed from the (potential) Cushman Trail connection. The building’s form promotes both privacy and openess.  The majority of spaces fl ank the exterior 
perimeter to take advantage of outdoor connections.

- Page 83 -

Item 9.2



32PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

EXAMPLE OF BUILDING MASSING & DESIGNCONCEPTUAL DESIGN - OPTION A

Shown above is a view looking toward SR 16.  Since the majority of spaces fl ank the exterior perimeter to take advantage of outdoor connections, we recommend a substantial landscape 
buffering and continued berming along the property perimeter for mitigating views and acoustic separation from the busy freeway. 

- Page 84 -

Item 9.2



33PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

 - THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK -

- Page 85 -

Item 9.2



34PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

RECOMMENDATIONS

Proposed Program. Adjusted based on the identifi ed programmatic 
needs and spatial requirements, the program breakdown is shown 
below as follows:

Entry Lobby & Circulation  3,950 SF
Community Rooms   3,400 SF
Learning & Meeting   2,320 SF
Administration   400 SF
Storage & Workshop   1,000 SF
Building Support   1,450 SF

*Program Areas are net square feet

Capital Cost Summary

Building Footprint:   12,520 SF
Construction Estimate:   $9,948,702
Sitework Area:   96,995 SF
Sitework Estimate:   $2,183,783
Soft Costs Estimate:   +33%
Total Project Estimate:  $16,136,205

The stand alone facility was assessed in current construction market climate dollars then escalated to 
account for cost increases through 2025. 

Operational Cost Summary

The Operations Plan assumes that the Senior Center would be operated by PenMet Parks with some 
usage from outside of district boundaries.  The facility would be open approximately 40 hours and 
focused on only senior programming.  The facility would be available in the evening and weekends 
to support other types of programming and private rentals.  The Operations Plan recommends 
annual membership rates that are comparable to the market and those currently charged.  The plan 
provides a comprehensive analysis of revenues and expenses associated with the facility, to include a 
recommendation of dollars going to an improvement fund.

Year 1
Expense:  - $494,798
Revenue: +$154,675
(31.3% Cost Recovery)

The Operations Plan suggests that the cost recovery level average from years 2-5 is approximately 
35%, which is an average defi cit of $342,105.  B*K took a conservative approach to the outside rentals 
and programs.  This is important to note because if those were a focus the subsidy could be signifi cantly 
reduced. 

Year 3
Expense:  - $514,738
Revenue: +$178,650
(34.7% Cost Recovery)

Year 5
Expense:  - $546,086
Revenue: +$189,529
(34.7% Cost Recovery)

OPTION A

The building program and site analysis informed the direction for OPTION A.  The stand alone facility 
was assessed in current construction market climate dollars then escalated to account for cost 
increases over the next two years. The estimate is for construction costs and does not account for soft 
costs associated with this project.  It is our recommendation to carry 33% for those costs. Similarly, 
an operations plan was supplied by Ballard*King Associates that analyzes the facility’s programs and 
details the associated staffi ng needs. In turn that analysis projects revenue and expenses tailored to 
the local market.  The following summarizes OPTION A:

Senior Center Activities
- Tech Room
- Library
- Classroom / Meeting
- Arts and Crafts
- Lounge & Cafe
- Open Kitchen
- Banquet & Catering
- Community Rooms
- Makers Space/ Workshop
- Group Fitness

Outdoor Uses
- Connection to Walking/Cycling Trail
- Gathering

- Page 86 -

Item 9.2



35PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

RECOMMENDED - OPTION B1

Option B1

While the process and workshops were highly successful with Steering 
committee participation understanding and resolve, the reality of budget, 
time and needs were re-evaluated.  After the fi nal scheduled workshop, 
the Steering committee requested an additional public workshop to amend 
the fi nal recommendations for a facility dedicated to senior programming 
needs with understanding that program space could be within the potential 
new aquatics center.  From that workshop, a holistic recommendation for 
OPTION B1 “Adjoined” facility evolved:

Senior (dedicated) Center Program
- Library / Medical / Healing
- Classroom / Meeting / Arts and Crafts
- Lounge & Reception
- Commercial Kitchen
- Dining / Multi-purpose / Small Banquet
- Restrooms
- Storage

Outdoor Uses
- Connection to Walking/Cycling Trail
- Gathering- Commercial Kitchen
- Dining / Multi-purpose / Small Banquet

Based on the amalgamation of the collected 
data, surveys, and community feedback, the 
project team recommends a viable alternative of 
approximately 6,900 SF Dedicated Senior Space.              
Programmatic amenities include:

Entry Lobby & Circulation  1,380 SF
Class/Meeting/Arts   1,250 SF
Dining/Multipurpose   1,880 SF
Medicine/Healing   280 SF
Storage    200 SF
Administration   490 SF
Building Support   (shared)

SUMMARY

The overall cost estimate for OPTION B1 as denoted on this page, refl ects our best understanding of the building cost per square foot of OPTION A (a stand alone facility).  A full detailed estimate for this option is not 
included.  In conceptualizing a combined facility, there are numerous effi ciencies of cost.  For instance, site costs should be consider part of the larger Aquatics “development” and operational costs can be shared between 
the Recreational and the Aquatics Center.  Should the potential Aquatics Center planning move forward we strongly recommend planning efforts include the needs of the senior center program.  While the OPTION B1 is 
shown as the recommendation from the Steering committee, numerous concepts should still be explored in the design phase.

*

Assumption of building construcion cost = 
6,900 SF X $794 / SF = $5,478,600

*

- Page 87 -

Item 9.2



36PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

SITE & BUILDING CONCEPTUAL DESIGN - “B” ALTERNATES

OPTION B3: ADJACENT

This location is adjacent to the potential future Community 
Aquatics Center and physically connected to the CRC. 
Similar to Option 2, interior circulation connections to either 
facility are unlikely. The location retains emphasizes the 
central nature of the plaza as a hub for all facilities.
Pros:
- May be able to be built before the Aquatic Center
- Some potential for shared operations
- Less capital construction cost
Cons:
- No interior connections to the Aquatics Center

OPTION B1: CONNECTED

Acts as a physical link between the CRC and the potential future 
Community Aquatics Center with the potential for interior circulation 
connections as well as the visual connections of the exterior.
Pros: 
- Maximizes potential for shared operations between the CRC and the 
Community Aquatics Center
- Strengthens central plaza as hub for all facilities
Cons:
- More distant parking for seniors
- Potential structural challenges attaching to a Pre Engineered Metal 
Building (CRC)

OPTION B2: ADJOINED
                                                                                         
This location is physically adjoining the potential future 
Community Aquatics Center but unlike Option 1 would not be 
connected by interior circulation paths. The Senior Center would 
have its own entry separate from the Aquatics Center.
Pros:
- Separate access to both facilities
- Closely proximate to parking opportunites
- Stronger perception as “stand-alone” facility while preserving 
some of the capital and operational cost savings
- Some potential for shared operations
Cons:
- No interior connections to the Aquatics Center

EXISTING TO REMAIN

ALTERNATIVE SPACE PLANNING
In round #4 meeting, three “B” options were presented and discussed.  Option B1 was presented as a 
plan connected to the existing (new) CRC and was the preferred plan by Steering committee (denoted 
within the dashed box).  Option B2 was presented as a plan being adjoined to the existing CRC.  Option B3 
is an adjacent plan physically connected to the potential new Community Aquatic Center without physical 
connection to the CRC.

Potential

- Page 88 -

Item 9.2



37PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER

APPENDIX

Market Assessment by Ballard*King & Associates

Cost Estimate by DCW Cost Management

Operational Plan by Ballard*King & Associates

Steering committee Presentations 

- Page 89 -

Item 9.2



38PENMET PARKS FEASIBILITY STUDY - SENIOR CENTER - Page 90 -

Item 9.2


	Top
	Item 6a.	Approval of the March 19, 2024 Study Session Minutes
	2024.03.19 Study Session Minutes _

	Item 6b.	Approval of the March 19, 2024 Regular Meeting Minutes
	2024.03.19 Regular Meeting Minutes

	Item 7a.	Resolution C2024-008: Approving  March Vouchers
	Consent Resolution Approving March Vouchers

	Item 9.2	Single Reading Resolutions Requiring One Reading for Adoption
	Memo R2024-008 and R2024-009 Resolutions of PenMet to Adopt the Aquatic Center and Senior Space Feasiblity Studies - 3-23-24 (3) (3)
	Resolution R2024-008 Accepting the Feasibility Study for a Community Aquatic Center (2) (1) (1)
	PenMet Parks AQUATICS Feasibility Study - Final
	Resolution R2024-009 Accepting the Feasibility Study for a Dedicated Space for Seniors (2)
	PenMet Parks SENIORS Feasibility Study - Final

	Bottom

